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CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION AND METHODOLOGY
Project Overview and Description

The Dormitory Authority of the State of New York (“DASNY™) has been requested by
The City University of New York (“CUNY™) to provide funding for the construction of a
proposed new academic building at the Brooklyn campus of the New York City College of
Technology (“City Tech”). The project site is located at 285 Jay Street in the Downtown
Brooklyn neighborhood of Kings County, New York (see Figure 1). The project site is located
on Block 131, within a portion of Lot 1.* The archaeological Area of Potential Effect (“APE”)
for the project (i.e. the area where the proposed project may affect potential archaeological
resources) includes the entire project site, which is bounded by Jay Street to the west, Tillary
Street to the north, Tech Place and Lot 25 to the south, and the eastern line of Lawrence Street —
which is demapped through Block 131 — to the east (see Figure 2). This Phase 1A
Archaeological Documentary Study has been prepared in conformance with the New York State
Historic Preservation Act of 1980 (“SHPA™), specifically the implementing regulations of
Section 14.09 of the Parks, Recreation and Historic Preservation Law (“PRHPL”’), as well as
with the requirements of the Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”), dated March 18, 1998,
between DASNY and the New York State Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic Preservation
(“OPRHP™).

The proposed project, which would consist of the construction of an approximately
358,000-gross-square-foot (“gsf”), 8-story (plus 2-level basement) academic building on the
project site, would require DASNY’s authorization of the expenditure of tax-exempt bond
proceeds from the State of New York Personal Income Tax Revenue Bond Program for the
proposed project as part of the CUNY Program. The proposed action would include the transfer
of an approximately 0.57-acre parcel adjacent to and east of the existing Klitgord Auditorium
Building that is currently occupied by a 1-story television studio (“TV Studio”) and 62 surface
accessory parking spaces operated by the New York City Department of Education
(“NYCDOE”) as well as an approximately 30-foot-wide, 169-foot-long, 0.12-acre sewer
easement. The proposed action would also include the transfer of up to 29,000 gsf of the
developable air rights from the NYCDOE through the New York City Department of Citywide
Administrative Services (“NYCDCAS”) to DASNY on behalf of CUNY. This property transfer
would result in an amendment to the existing Zoning Lot Development Agreement (“ZLDA”)
between the City of New York and CUNY, and would likely involve a zoning lot subdivision.
The design and construction of the new building would require the approval of the CUNY Board
and the City University Construction Fund.

! Lot 1 is divided into two parts known as Lots 1A and 1B; however, this distinction is not made on Sanborn maps (Figure 2).
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The proposed project would provide additional classrooms, laboratories, and
administrative space for City Tech’s sciences and allied health programs, which are currently
housed in constrained facilities on other parts of the campus. The two below-grade floors would
include a 770-person-capacity gymnasium (with an approximate ceiling height of 25 feet), a
fitness center, locker rooms, and 20 accessory underground parking spaces with access via Tech
Place. The proposed auditorium and gymnasium would be modern replacements of similar
facilities in the 2-story Klitgord Auditorium building. As part of the proposed project, the
Klitgord Building, adjacent NYCDOE-operated TV Studio, and accessory parking lot would be
demolished and the property would be redeveloped with the proposed project. In addition, two
landscaped areas are included as part of the proposed project: a small garden adjacent to a
proposed atrium at Jay and Tillary Streets; and a larger landscaped courtyard area south of the
auditorium intended for use as a gathering space for the City Tech community.

Several street improvements are also proposed as part of the proposed project. The
existing curb cut along Tillary Street would be closed, and three new curb cuts would be created:
add two new curb cuts — one approximately 30 feet wide, the other 15 feet wide — would be
located along Tech Place approximately 80 feet east of Jay Street; the third curb cut would be
located on Tillary Street approximately 230 feet east of Jay Street. These curb cuts would
require approval by the New York City Department of Transportation (“NYCDOT?”).

Research Goals and Methodology

The goal of this Phase 1A Archaeological Documentary Study of the City Tech
Academic Building project site is to determine the likelihood that potential archaeological
resources have survived intact within the boundaries of the archaeological APE. The study has
been designed to satisfy the Phase | Archaeological Report Format Requirements of the New
York State Historic Preservation Office (“SHPO,” 2005) and the Guidelines for Archaeological
Work in New York City of the New York City Landmarks Preservation Commission (“LPC,”
2002) and it follows the Standards for Cultural Resource Investigations and the Curation of
Archaeological Collections in New York State of the New York Archaeological Council
(“NYAC,” 1994). The study documents the history of the proposed project site as well as its
potential to yield archaeological resources dating to both the precontact and historic periods.
Research was completed to establish a chronology of the project site’s development and to
identify any individuals who may have owned the land or worked and/or resided there.

As part of the background research for this Phase 1A Archaeological Documentary
Study, various primary and secondary resources were analyzed. These included historical maps
and atlases; historical photographs; building construction, renovation, and demolition records;
church records; newspaper articles; local histories; historical directories; and historical tax
assessment, conveyance, and census records. These published and unpublished resources were
consulted at various repositories, including the New York Public Library, the New York City
Municipal Archives, the Brooklyn and New York Historical Societies, the Brooklyn Office of
the City Register (New York City Department of Finance), and others. On-line textual archives
such as Google Books and the Internet Archive Open Access Texts and the files of the New
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York City Department of Buildings (“NYCDOB”) were also accessed. In addition, site file
searches were completed at OPRHP, LPC, and the New York State Museum (“NYSM”) to
gather information regarding previously-identified archaeological sites and previously-conducted
cultural resources assessments in the vicinity of the project site. Finally, a walkover of the site
was completed to identify visible signs of disturbance and/or landscape transformation.

Attempts were made to locate the original church records of the Baptist and Presbyterian
congregations that formerly occupied a portion of the project site before 1849, when burials
within the city limits of Brooklyn were banned. Historical church records on file at the Brooklyn
Historical Society were searched; however, original records pertaining to the project site’s
congregations could not be located. The digital catalogs and finding aids of the Congregational
Library in Boston, Massachusetts and the Presbyterian Historical Society in Philadelphia,
Pennsylvania were also searched though no specific collections pertaining to the churches on the
project site were identified. A research inquiry was submitted to the Presbyterian Historical
Society and the Society confirmed that it did not hold any relevant church records in its records
(Presbyterian Historical Society, pers. comm. 2010). The Society provided general background
information for the Presbyterian churches that were located on the property and recommended
contacting archives such as the Congregational Library and the Brooklyn Historical Society. In
addition, the Society recommended contacting the New York Genealogical and Biographical
Society (“NYG&B”). However, the NYG&B closed its library in 2008 and donated its
collections to the New York Public Library, although the collections are not yet accessible to the
public. The digital collections of the NYG&B were accessed as part of the background research
for this project.

A written research inquiry was also filed with the American Baptist Historical Society
(“ABHS”) in Atlanta, Georgia. The collections of the ABHS may hold some or all of the records
of the East Baptist Church, which occupied the project site for several months in 1841 before
moving to new premises and becoming known as the Pierrepont Street Baptist Church. As of
this writing, no response to the initial research request has been received from the ABHS.

The project site was originally composed of at least 24 historical lots, however, the lot
dimensions, lot numbers, and addresses changed several times during the nineteenth and
twentieth centuries. The house numbers along Jay, Lawrence, Tillary, and Johnson Streets were
renumbered between 1871 and 1872, and historical lot numbers were changed around the turn of
the twentieth century. The historical lot numbers and street addresses of the former historical
lots included within the project site are presented in Table 1. For the sake of consistency and
clarification, the twentieth century lot numbers and street addresses will be used to refer to these
properties for the majority of this report.

Because the construction of the existing Klitgord Building and adjacent television studio
would have generated significant disturbance to the majority of the historical lots within the
APE, only those lots with undeveloped rear yards not located within the footprint of the existing
buildings were intensively researched (i.e., with searches of census records, tax assessments,
historical directories, etc.). These lots included Lots 15 and 16 and the former church property
on Lot 18 (see Table 1). Research was also completed on historical Lots 5 through 14, which are
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below the northern half of the Klitgord Building where the basement is not fully excavated, but

where some disturbance has occurred as a result of the building’s construction.

Table 1: Historical Lots within the Project Site

Mid-nineteenth
Lot Number Century Lot Late nineteenth Century
Until ca. 1960 Number Lot Number Address Before 1872 Address After 1872
1/40A 389A 28a 227 Jay Street 293-295 Jay Street
2 409 29 225 Jay Street 291 Jay Street
3 408 30 223 Jay Street 289 Jay Street
4 407 31 221 Jay Street 287 Jay Street
5 406 32 219 Jay Street 285 Jay Street
6 405 33 217 Jay Street 283 Jay Street
7 404 34 215 Jay Street 281 Jay Street
8 403 35 213 Jay Street 279 Jay Street
10 402 1 211 _Jay Street/ 271—277_Jay Street/
80 Tillary Street 90-92 Tillary Street
12 401 2 82 Tillary Street 94 Tillary Street
13 400 3 84 Tillary Street 96 Tillary Street
14 399 4 86 Tillary Street 98-100 Tillary Street
15 398 5 88 Tillary Street 102 Tillary Street
16 397 6 90-92 Tillary Street 104-106 Tillary Street
18 396 7.9 94-102 Tillary Street/ 108-112 Tillary Street/
56-58 Lawrence Street 20-24 Lawrence Street
21 395 10 60 Lawrence Street 26 Lawrence Street
22 394 11 62 Lawrence Street 28 Lawrence Street
23 393B 12 64 Lawrence Street 30 Lawrence Street
24 393A 13 66 Lawrence Street 32 Lawrence Street
25 393 14 68 Lawrence Street 34 Lawrence Street
36 385 24 71 Johnson Street 93 Johnson Street
37 386 25 69 Johnson Street 91 Johnson Street
38 387 26 67 Johnson Street 89 Johnson Street
39 388 27 65 Johnson Street 87 Johnson Street
63 Johnson Street/ 85 Johnson Street/
40 R 28 229 Jay Street 297-303 Jay Street
Notes: All historical lots are now included within Block 131, Lot 1.

Summary of Previous Cultural Resources Assessments in the Vicinity of the Project Site

Several cultural resources assessments have been completed for project sites in the
immediate vicinity of the current City Tech project site. In 1990, Historical Perspectives, Inc.
(“HPI”) prepared a report entitled Polytechnic Residence Hall CEQR No. 90-186K, Archaeological
Assessment Report, which analyzed the archaeological sensitivity of Block 131, Lot 25, on the City
Tech campus immediately east of the Klitgord Building. The area examined in that assessment
included numerous historical lots, including a portion of the lot formerly at 93 Johnson Street. The
remainder of that lot is included within the City Tech Academic Building project site. The
dormitory at that site was constructed in 2004, and at the time of HPI’s analysis, it was an open
landscaped area. The portion of Block 131 west of the former line of Lawrence Street was
originally identified as Block 130 and was divided into many historical lots. Of the 10 historical
lots analyzed in HPI’s report, all were determined to have potential sensitivity for rear-yard shaft
features (e.g., privies, cisterns, and wells) dating to the nineteenth century. Archaeological testing
was recommended for 4 of those lots. A Phase 1B report for this project was not on file at LPC or
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OPRHP and HPI confirmed that they did not complete archaeological testing for this property. The
results of any testing that may have been completed in this area are unknown.

Another archaeological assessment was completed as part of the Final Environmental
Impact Statement (“FEIS”) for the Metropolitan Technology Center (“MetroTech”) Project,
covering all or portions of Blocks 132, 142, 143, 147, 148, 2047, 2048, 2058, and 2059, adjacent
to the City Tech Academic Building project site to the south and east (McKeown & Franz, Inc
and Urbitran Associates 1987). A Phase | Cultural Resources Summary was prepared for the
MetroTech site by Rothschild and Dublin in 1985, which was prepared to expand upon an earlier
report by Susan Kardas and Edward Larrabee (1984). Rothschild and Dublin carried out
research on a representative sample of the historical lots included within the MetroTech project
site and concluded that several lots within Block 143, one block south of the City Tech
Academic Building project site, and Block 2047, one block east of Block 143, were potentially
sensitive for rear-yard shaft features associated with the nineteenth century residential
occupation of the lots and recommended archaeological testing in those areas.

Phase 1B testing was completed on Blocks 143 and 2407 of the MetroTech project site
by Greenhouse Consultants, Inc., in 1989 (Greenhouse 1991). During the testing, privy shafts
were identified at the rear of four properties and cisterns and wells were identified in close
proximity to the residential structures that formerly stood on the lots. This arrangement of shaft
features is typical for historical lots. Greenhouse (1991) determined that all of the privies and
cisterns found on the lots were filled with refuse deposits during the nineteenth century after
connections to municipal water and sewer networks rendered them obsolete. The stone-lined
privies encountered during the investigation were either circular or square in shape, and were
located along the rear lot line, either in the center or corner of the lot, and there was evidence that
the privies were cleaned out regularly. The cisterns identified within the MetroTech property
were constructed of red brick and hard mortar and were constructed with dome-shaped tops and
were adjacent to the rear of the house. A greater number of artifacts was recovered from the
cisterns than from the privies, likely the result of privy maintenance and cleaning (HP1 1990).
Two circular stone dry-wells were also identified in the centers of former historical rear yards
that appeared to have been connected to cisterns as part of an effort to control overflow and
flooding. Unlike the privies and cisterns, however, the dry-wells were not filled with coal ash,
but rather with silt and sand to absorb the cistern runoff, suggesting that the fill was part of the
construction technique, rather than something added later when the wells were no longer of use.

Another archaeological investigation was completed by Joan Geismar, Ph.D., in 1989 at
330 Jay Street, one block southwest of the City Tech Academic Building project site. However,
it was determined that while the site was probably sensitive for historic period archaeological
resources at one time, disturbance generated by development in the twentieth century would have
destroyed anything of archaeological value on that site.
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CHAPTER 2. ENVIRONMENTAL AND PHYSICAL SETTINGS
Geology and Topography

The borough of Brooklyn is found within a geographic bedrock region known as the
Atlantic Coastal Plain Province. This has been described as “that portion of the former
submerged continental shelf which has been raised above the sea without apparent deformation”
(Reeds 1925: 3). This area is typified by unconsolidated glacial till deposits located on top of
crystalline bedrock including Pre-Cambrian schist, gneiss, and grandorite (Environmental
Planning and Management, Inc. [“EMP”] 2009). Soils on Long Island, on which King’s County
is located, are composed of glacial till or undifferentiated sediments such as sand and clay. The
Atlantic Coastal Plain is typified by “flat, low-lying” ground “that slopes very gently toward the
sea” (Isachsen, et al. 2000: 149).

The glacial till was deposited by the massive glaciers that retreated from the area towards
the end of the Pleistocene (1.6 million years before present [“BP”] to approximately 10,000 years
BP). There were four major glaciations that affected New York City, culminating approximately
1n a northeast-southwest direction (Homberger 1994). The deposition of glacial till in the wake
of the retreating glaciers resulted in the creation of sand hills, known as kames, across New York
City, some of which rose to heights of one hundred feet.

The first map that appears to include data on the historical elevation of the project site is
the 1880 Hopkins atlas. This map indicates that the elevation at the intersection of Tillary and
Jay Streets was 41 feet “above the ground.” Subsequent maps show that this intersection has
remained relatively constant at 41 to 42 feet above sea level since that time. Similarly, the
intersections of Jay Street and Johnson Street (also known as Tech Place in the vicinity of the
project site), Lawrence and Tillary Streets, and Lawrence Street and City Tech Place have also
remained fairly consistent since the late-nineteenth century, as depicted in Table 2, below.

Table 2: Street Elevation Changes

Intersection Elevation (in feet):
Jay & Tillary Jay & Johnson Lawrence & Tillary Lawrence & Johnson
Year/Source Streets Streets Streets Streets
1880 Hopkins Map 41 Not provided Not provided Not provided
1886 Robinson Map,
1887 Sanborn Map iz 42 35 35
1898 Ullitz Map 41.58 41.55 34.27 35.00
1904 Sanborn Map 41 41 34 35
1915 through 2007 a2 42 335 35
Sanborn Maps
2009 Langan 40 BPBM 41 BPBM 34 BPBM 37 BPBM
Geotechnical Report (42.56 MSL) (43.56 MSL) (36.56 MSL) (39.56 MSL)

NOTES: The 2009 Langan report identifies elevations relative to the Borough President of Brooklyn Datum (“BPBM”),
which is 2.56 feet above mean sea level (MSL). This means that an elevation measured at 0 using the Brooklyn datum
is 2.56 feet below mean sea level (-2.56 MSL). Some of the historical map sources included in the table above do not
indicate the datum from which the elevation was measured while others present elevations above high tide or ground
surface. Therefore, it is assumed that with the exception of the data from the 2009 Langan report, all elevation
measurements are with respect to sea level. In addition, the elevations included in the Langan report were not mapped
and may not correlate exactly to the street corner elevations provided on historical maps, resulting in subtle differences.
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Hydrology

In addition to the many sand hills formed by the retreating glaciers, the runoff generated
by the melting ice created many small streams, rivers, and lakes across Brooklyn. As
temperatures increased and runoff ceased, these small water courses evolved into swamps and
marshlands. The Wallabout Bay, a large harbor bordered by thick belts of marshland and
mudflats was located approximately 2,000 feet northeast of the project site. A map produced by
the New York City Board of Health (“BOH”) in 1875 depicting the original topography of
Brooklyn (Figure 3) depicts a large marsh-bordered stream extending from the western side of
Wallabout Bay in the vicinity of modern Navy Street as far south as Johnson Street. At its
closest point, this marshland was approximately 850 feet northeast of the project site. Additional
marshes and streams were located approximately 3,000 feet to the south, in the vicinity of the
Gowanus Canal.

The original shoreline of Brooklyn has changed a great deal since that time, as landfill
has extended it out into the East River. According to the aforementioned BOH map, the project
site was originally approximately 3,000 feet south of the shoreline of the East River, a distance
that has been extended by approximately 500 feet since the late nineteenth century.

Soils

The New York City Soil Reconnaissance Survey published by the National Resource
Conservation Service (2005) indicates that the soils in the vicinity of the project site belong to a
soil complex known as “Pavement & Buildings, till substratum.” These soils are glacial tills
generally found in urban centers at least 80 percent of which is covered with impenetrable
buildings and/or pavement. The soils are found in areas that are typically flat or gently sloping,
with 0 to 5 percent slopes (New York City Soil Survey Staff 2005).

Soil borings samples were taken within the project site as part of several previous
Environmental Site Assessment investigations by AKRF, Inc. in August and September 2009
and Langan Engineering and Environmental Services in April and May 2009. The borings
identified a layer of fill across the entire site ranging from approximately 5 feet below ground
surface to almost 30 feet below grade. The levels identified as fill contained brick and concrete.
Because the borings were for the most part spaced around the perimeter of the existing building,
the majority of this fill appears to be in the location of former basements that were filled when
the block was redeveloped with the existing Klitgord Building. The fill levels appear to be
deepest along Jay Street where the existing New York City Transit (“NYCT”) subway lines run
below the street. In the vicinity of the parking lot at the northeastern corner of the lot, fill levels
are shallower. Boring LB-3, advanced by Langan, appears to be in the vicinity of a former rear
yard north of the existing Klitgord Building and identifies approximately 7 feet of fill. Boring
SB-13, advanced by AKRF, was located immediately north of the northeast corner of the
existing TV studio, in the vicinity of a former church that had a basement, and identified
approximately 20 feet of fill.
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Paleoenvironment

Due to the extended glacial period that left the Northeast blanketed in thick ice sheets for
thousands of years, the area was not inhabited by humans until approximately 11,000 years ago.
As temperatures increased, a variety of flora and fauna spread throughout the region. At this
time, large open forests of spruce, fir, pine, and other tree species expanded across the Northeast,
interspersed with open meadows and marshland. A wide variety of animal life could also be
found, including large mammals such as mammoth, mastodon, caribou, musk ox, moose, as well
as smaller mammals such as fox, beaver, hare, and many kinds of marine animals.

Climate changes continued to reshape the environment of the Northeast as time
progressed. As the climate grew increasingly warmer, jack pine, fir, spruce, and birch trees were
replaced with hardwood forests of red and white pine, oak, and beech (Ritchie 1980).
Furthermore, a decrease in glacial runoff resulted in the creation of small bodies of water such as
lakes as well as, later on, low-lying marshes and swampy areas. By the time of the Early
Archaic period, beginning approximately 10,000 BP, there was “considerable environmental
diversity, with a mosaic of wetlands, oak stands, and a variety of other plant resources...[making
it]...an attractive and hospitable quarter for both human and animal populations” (Cantwell and
Wall 2001: 53). Warmer temperatures forced the herds of large mammals to travel north before
eventually dying out. The new surroundings attracted other animals such as rabbit, turkey,
waterfowl, bear, turtles, and white-tailed deer. The expanded water courses became home to a
variety of marine life, including many varieties of fish, clams, oysters, scallops, seals, and
porpoises, among others (ibid).

Current Conditions

As mentioned previously, the project site is currently occupied by two structures: the
Klitgord Building and the adjacent television studio (see Photographs 1 through 4). Both
structures were constructed with basements that extend to approximately 20 feet below grade;
however, the basement of the northern half of the Klitgord Building was not fully excavated.
Some excavation, possibly as much as 10 feet, occurred in this area to level the grade and to
construct existing column footings that are evenly spaced throughout the area.

The project site also includes a 1-story hallway (with subsurface tunnel) that connects the
TV studio with the adjacent George Westinghouse Information Technology High School at 105
Tech Place, a paved parking lot, and perimeter landscaping and fencing (see Photographs 5 and
6). Transformer and utility vaults are visible along the sidewalk lining the northern side of the
project site. Within the parking lot in the northeastern portion of the site, manholes, stormwater
drains, and monitoring wells are visible, many within the former streetbed of Lawrence Street.
Additional manholes are visible in the sidewalks lining the western and southern sides of the
project site. In addition, the A, C, and F subway lines run below Jay Street, immediately to the
west of the project site. Ventilation shafts associated with the subway are present within the
eastern sidewalk of Jay Street and the southern sidewalk of Tillary Street.
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Looking southeast toward the Klitgord Building at southeast corner of Jay and Tillary Streets 1

The western facade of the Klitgord Building, along Jay Street 2
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Looking north along Jay Street from Johnson Street 3

Looking south across Tillary Street at the TV Studio and Klitgord Building 4
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Parking lot in front of the TV Studio 5

The parking lot east of the TV Studio and the former Streetbed of Lawrence Street 6
(the 1-story hallway is shown in the distance). Looking south
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CHAPTER 3. PRECONTACT PERIOD
Precontact Context

Archaeologists have divided the time between the arrival of the first humans in
northeastern North America and the arrival of Europeans more than 10,000 years later into three
periods: Paleo-Indian (11,000 to 10,000 BP), Archaic (10,000 to 2,700 BP), and Woodland
(2,700 to 500 BP). These divisions are based on certain changes in environmental conditions,
technological advancements, and cultural adaptations, which are observable in the archaeological
record.

As mentioned in Chapter 2, human populations did not inhabit the Northeast until the
glaciers retreated some 11,000 years ago. These new occupants included Native American
populations referred to by archaeologists as Paleo-Indians, the forbearers of the Delaware — also
called the Lenape Indians — who would inhabit the land in later years. Archaeological evidence
suggests that the Paleo-Indians were likely highly mobile hunters and gatherers who utilized a
distinct style of lithic technology, typified by fluted points. They appear to have lived in small
groups of fewer than 50 individuals (Dincauze 2000) and did not maintain permanent campsites.
In addition, most of the Paleo-Indian sites that have been investigated were located near water
sources. Because of the close proximity of Paleo-Indian sites to the coastline, few have been
preserved in the New York City area.

The Archaic period has been subdivided into three chronological segments, based on
trends identified in the archaeological record, which reflect not only the ecological
transformations that occurred during this period, but the cultural changes as well. These have
been termed the Early Archaic (10,000-8,000 BP), the Middle Archaic (8,000-6,000 BP) and the
Late Archaic (6,000-2,700 BP) (Cantwell and Wall 2001). The Late Archaic is sometimes
further divided to include the Terminal Archaic (3,000-2,700 BP). The abundance of food
resources that arose during this period allowed the Archaic Native Americans to occupy
individual sites on a permanent or semi-permanent basis, unlike their nomadic Paleo-Indian
predecessors. Fishing technology was developed during the Middle Archaic in response to an
increasing dependence on the area’s marine resources. Tools continued to be crafted in part from
foreign lithic materials, indicating that there was consistent trade among Native American groups
from various regions in North America throughout the Archaic period. Few Early and Middle
Archaic archaeological sites have been identified in New York City, although numerous Late
Archaic sites have been identified in the area.

The Woodland period represents a cultural revolution of sorts for the Northeast. During
this time, Native Americans began to alter their way of life, focusing on a settled, agricultural
lifestyle rather than one of nomadic hunting and gathering. Social rituals become visible in the
archaeological record at this time. Composite tools, bows and arrows, domesticated dogs, and
elaborately decorated pottery were introduced to Native American culture at this time and burial
sites grew increasingly complex. Woodland-era sites across North America indicate that there
was an overall shift toward full-time agriculture and permanently settled villages. Archaic sites
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in New York City, however, suggest that the Native Americans there continued to hunt and
forage on a part-time basis. This was most likely due to the incredibly diverse environmental
niches that could be found across the region throughout the Woodland period (Cantwell and Wall
2001, Grumet 1995).

The Woodland period ended with the arrival of the first Europeans in the early 1500s. At
that time, a division of the Delaware Indians known as the Canarsee — a local branch of the
Matouack tribe — inhabited western Long Island, including what has since become the borough
of Brooklyn. A subgroup of the Canarsee, the Mareyckawick, occupied the Wallabout Bay
portion of Brooklyn at the time of European Contact. A Native American village associated with
this group is shown on the 1639 Manatus Map. The group’s main village site was identified by
Bolton (1934) as being located at Gallatin and EIm Place, west of the project area. Others,
however, have suggested that the village was located in the immediate vicinity of the project site,
near the intersection of Lawrence and Jay Streets (Solecki 1977) or near Borough Hall (Grumet
1981).

The Native Americans lived in villages consisting of multiple longhouses and practiced
some farming, but subsisted mostly on food resources obtained by hunting, gathering, and
fishing (Grumet 1995). The Mareyckawick sold their land to the Dutch West India Company in
1637, but maintained a presence in Brooklyn for the next few years. With the introduction of
European culture into the indigenous society, the way of life once maintained by the Native
Americans was thoroughly and rapidly altered. European guns, glass beads, and alcohol soon
became incorporated into the Native American economy. The Mareyckawick, like all the Canarsee
Indians, suffered a great deal from the side-effects of European colonization: disease, alcoholism,
and warfare (Grumet 1981). As the seventeenth century progressed, fierce wars broke out
between the Dutch and the Indians. After years of intermittent periods of war and peace, the
Mareyckawick fled to join the Rockaway Indians to the south (ibid).

There are several Contact period archaeological sites that have been identified in New
York City, including the Ryder’s Point site in southern Brooklyn. It was a major Canarsee
village that was occupied continuously for thousands of years. Even though it is considered to
be “the largest Native American site in Brooklyn,” the site was poorly excavated and can,
therefore, not be properly analyzed (Cantwell and Wall 2001: 130).

Previously-Identified Native American Archaeological Sites

A review of the files at the OPRHP, the NYSM Historical and Anthropological Surveys,
the LPC, and cultural resource surveys of projects in the immediate vicinity indicated that there
are at least five known archaeological sites within a 1-mile radius of the project area (see Figure
1 and Table 3). Many of these sites were identified during the early part of the twentieth century
by avocational and/or professional archaeologists and, unfortunately, none were excavated
according to today’s technical standards. In some instances their exact locations are unknown
and it is likely that intensive land transformation and construction which has taken place in
recent centuries has obliterated any trace of their existence.
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Table 3: Previously Identified Precontact Archaeological Sites

Site Name and Approximate Distance
key to Figure 1 Site Number from APE Time Period | Site Type | Reference
Contact;
A possibly Traces of |Furman 1865
Rinnegacknock NYSM: 9412 0.57 mile (3,000 ft) Woodland occupation| Bolton 1922
B Contact and
Mareyckawick Bolton: 117 0.28 mile (1,500 ft) Woodland Village | Grumet 1981
C
Werpos Bolton: 67 1 mile (5,280 ft) Contact — Grumet 1981
D Parker: ACP-KNGS
Unnamed Site NYSM: 3606 1.5 miles (8,000 ft) — Camp Parker 1922

As discussed previously, the project site is located less than a mile southwest of
Wallabout Bay. The 1875 map depicting Brooklyn’s original topography published by the BOH
indicates that the small stream, known as the Runnegackonck, that connected to the Wallabout
Bay and its surrounding marshland extended to the south approximately 850 feet east of the
project site (Grumet 1981). Bolton identifies a Native American village referred to as
Rinnegacknock on the northern shore of Brooklyn to the west of the Wallabout Bay. The land on
which this village sat was sold to European settlers in 1637 (Bolton 1922, see “A” in Table 3,
above).

Another occupation site, called Werpos, was located “halfway between Marechawik and
the Gowanus Creek” (Grumet 1981:58) but “references to Werpos do not provide a description
of the type of site that existed at this location” (Greenhouse 1996: 3). Bolton (1934) suggests
that the site was located near the intersection of Hoyt and Baltic Streets, approximately 4,000
feet southwest of the project site. Bolton describes the site as the refuge used by the Native
Americans who fled Manhattan island after selling it to the Dutch. It is interesting, therefore,
that the testimony of Peter Stryker in the case of Horsefield vs. Heirs of Hans Bergen, (located
in Copy of an Original Paper in the Archives of the New York Historical Society, see Stiles 1867:
420-424) mentions a “Worpus.” The pertinent paragraph in the testimony is as follows:

Peter Stryker, aged 44, says that being on a jury of view about 6 or
7 years ago, Jacob Hanse, father of Hanse Bergen, said at his
house on talking of Worpus, there’s Worpus, pointing with his
finger thro’ his window to the head of the creek by his garden (in
Stiles 1867:424).

In the footnotes, Stiles (1867) notes that “The “Worpus’ pointed out by Jacob Hanse may
also have been the site of an Indian village, a large Indian burying ground being located in the
vicinity, where remains were exhumed a few years ago in leveling the ground for City purposes;
Indian maize lands being also, in that region, referred to in the early patents” (ibid).

Another site in the vicinity was registered with the New York State Museum by Arthur
Parker although it was never given a formal name (see “D” in Table 3). Parker’s description of
this site (1922) is rather vague and it could represent one of several unnumbered sites. There is
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an unnumbered camp site in this location in Parker’s illustration of Kings County identified as
Plate 179 (Parker 1922).

A network of interconnecting Native American trails ran through Brooklyn, connecting it
with Native American villages on Manhattan and Long Island. These trails were later widened
by European settlers and used as the first colonial roads in the city (Bolton 1922). One path
began at the shoreline near the village of Rinnagacknock and ran along modern Fulton Street,
turning south in the vicinity of the Brooklyn Municipal Building and connecting to a smaller trail
leading to the village of Werpos and continued south to Red Hook.

In a previous study of the Polytechnic Residence Hall project site, adjacent to the City
Tech project site on Block 131, HPI (1990) noted that the original topographical characteristics
of Block 131 and the site’s distance to water courses would have made it unattractive as a Native
American habitation site, although it may have been used as farmland or for hunting and
gathering. In addition, the report concluded that the development of the area during the historic
period associated with both agricultural and residential uses would have impacted archaeological
resources associated with the Native American occupation of the area. The Metrotech FEIS
reached similar conclusions and neither project site was considered to be sensitive for precontact
archaeological resources.
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CHAPTER 4. THE HISTORIC PERIOD
Brooklyn’s Early History

New York was “discovered” by Giovanni de Verrazano in 1524 and explored by Henry
Hudson in 1609, thus marking the beginning of European occupation in the area. Hudson
described the Brooklyn Heights neighborhood as having “magnificent forests gorgeous with
autumnal hues” (Stiles 1867: 9). By 1621, the area had become part of a Dutch colony and the
States-General in the Netherlands chartered the Dutch West India Company (“WIC”) to
consolidate Dutch activities in the New World. It was at this time that the WIC began to
purchase large tracts of land from the Native Americans. The WIC began to purchase land in
northwest Brooklyn in the late 1630s, including the northern portion of the Mareyckawick
territory, which was sold in 1637 (Bolton 1975). It has been speculated that the sale of Brooklyn
land “saved New Netherland from being abandoned by the West India Company” (Armbruster
1918: 3). After the WIC purchased the land from the Indians, they in turn granted it to European
settlers.

The western end of Long Island was settled in the first half of the seventeenth century by
predominantly Dutch and Walloon (French Protestants from Belgium who fled to escape
persecution) families. In 1638, land was granted to any individual who promised to establish a
farm in the area (Armbruster 1918). Six independent towns were established in the second and
third quarters of the century including Brooklyn, in which the project site is located, which was
first settled in the 1640s, though not formally organized until 1746. While at first the WIC
granted patroonships — a patroon was the “feudal chief” of a small colony of fifty or more
individuals (Stiles 1867: 20) — they found that farms were more successful if the land was
granted directly to individual farmers. Therefore, the land was given the name Brooklyn, which
is derived from the Dutch Bruijkleen, meaning “a free loan, given to a tenant or user for a certain
consideration” (Armbruster 1914: 20). The name went through several changes throughout the
Dutch and English colonial periods; from Bruijkleen to Breukelen to Brookland and, finally, to
Brooklyn. English settlements were established throughout Brooklyn during the mid 1600s. In
1664, the English took control of the colony and it was renamed “New York.”

Like all of New York, the village of Brooklyn was occupied by the British during the
Revolutionary War in the late eighteenth century. Because it had been “wholly military ground”
(City/Scape 1998: 26), the region suffered a great deal of destruction and disturbance both during
battle and at the hands of British soldiers; however, no Revolutionary War activity, including
fortifications or battles, has been documented in the immediate vicinity of the project site
(Rothschild and Dublin 1985).

After the Revolutionary War ended, Brooklyn was given a chance to thrive as an
important component of the greater New York economy. While at first it provided agricultural
goods for the city proper, it soon became the city’s industrial base. The opening of the Brooklyn
Naval Yard, to the northwest of the project area within Wallabout Bay, brought in a large
number of jobs. In addition, the installation of ferries and other public transportation allowed for
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residents to commute to their jobs in Manhattan while living in “rural” Brooklyn. The village of
Brooklyn, in which the project site was situated, was officially incorporated in 1816 and by 1834
it became a formal city (ibid).

New York’s prosperity caused Brooklyn and Manhattan to become increasingly co-
dependent, both economically and culturally. In order to unify the entire area and to facilitate its
rapid growth, Brooklyn (as well as the other 3 outer boroughs) was incorporated into the City of
New York in 1898 (Burrows and Wallace 1999).

The Development of the Project Site

The project site was included within tracts of farmland granted to various Dutch and
English settlers during the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries. Owners included members of
the Hooghland and Jacobs families, and in the late seventeenth and early eighteenth century, the
property was set aside as common lands for residents of the Town of Brooklyn (HPI 1990). The
earliest conveyance records associated with this property (see Appendix A) identify these early
OWners.

During the late seventeenth and early eighteenth century the only major road to cross
through this portion of Brooklyn was the “King’s Highway,” which ran to the west of the project
site in the vicinity of the modern Brooklyn Bridge and Fulton Street. Ratzer’s 1776 map
depicting Manhattan and northwestern Brooklyn circa 1766 (see Figure 4) depicts the project site
in the middle of farmland. The only structures in the immediate vicinity seem to have lined the
main road to the west. To the north and south of the project site, the map depicts two farm
boundary lines that marked out the boundary of the former farm granted to Barent Johnson in
1755 (HP1 1990).

It is unclear if any structures were located within the project site from this time through
the early nineteenth century; however the vicinity was the home of several ropewalks during that
era, as well as a powder mill near the intersection of Jay and Tillary Streets (Stiles 1884). Stiles
(1884) also notes that small houses were located in the fields of many historical farms, including
Johnson’s, “none of which were get-at-able, except by paths across the fields” (ibid I: 126).

After Barent Johnson’s death, the farm was divided among his heirs, and the project site
was ultimately granted to Samuel R. Johnson. Throughout the 1820s and 1830s, the Johnson
farm was transformed from a rural agricultural property to a network of city blocks. Streets were
cut through the area during this time, beginning with Jay Street in 1822 (HPI 1990). One of the
earliest maps of Brooklyn that indicates the extent to which it was developed is the 1839
Stoddard map (reprinted in Geismar, 1989). The map, which like many contemporary maps
appears to use shading to indicate the presence of structures on a block, indicates that the project
site block, at that time bounded on the east by Lawrence Street, was developed. That map
depicts a church in the northeast corner of the block. This church is discussed in greater detail
below. As seen on that map, the streets surrounding the project site were all cut through by that
time. A similar map published by Augustus Mitchell in 1846 suggests that only the northern and
western portions of the project site were developed.
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One of the earliest transactions associated with the project site occurred in 1829, when
Johnson leased land near the southwestern corner of Tillary and Lawrence Street to William
Stone for a period of 29 years (the transaction was briefly described in a later conveyance
record). However, by 1833, Stone had become an “insolvent debtor” and the lease was
terminated. Numerous other conveyances were recorded throughout the 1830s as Johnson’s land
holdings were divided into smaller lots and leased or sold. It is presumed that the lots making up
the project site were first developed during this time, although a detailed map showing the
development of these lots was not created until 1855, when William Perris published an atlas of
Brooklyn (see Figure 5).

Perris’ map depicts the block as a series of equally-sized city lots all developed with a
series of wood frame structures with the exception of one lot (outside the project site) that was
developed with a brick structure. Nearly all of these lots had small outbuildings constructed
along the rear lot lines. These structures were likely outhouses covering privy pits, as water and
sewer networks were not available in this neighborhood until the late 1850s and 1860s. The
Brooklyn Daily Eagle reported that a petition was made for the installation of a well and pump at
the corner of Barbarine (now Lawrence) and Johnson Streets in March 1848. Historical
Perspective, Inc. notes in their 1990 archaeological assessment of the southeastern corner of the
block that city water mains were available in the area by 1859, followed by sewers in 1869.
However, in 1859 the Brooklyn Daily Eagle also reported that a sewer was proposed through
Barbarine and Tillary Streets in the vicinity of the project site that would drain out into the
Wallabout Bay near the Brooklyn Navy Yard and references to sewers in Tillary and adjacent
streets were made in the Eagle in the early 1840s. In addition, an advertisement to promote the
sale of a home on Lawrence Street ran in the New York Times in 1855 which described the house
as having “modern improvements,” suggesting that it had indoor plumbing. The advertisement
refers to the home as 22 Lawrence Street between Johnson and Tillary Streets, however, in 1855
22 Lawrence Street would have been further north, so it is unclear if the house number or the
description of its location is incorrect. Regardless, it is possible that some of the lots within the
project site were connected to sewer and water networks by the publication of the 1855 Perris
atlas, which would explain why some lots, most notably those along Lawrence Street, did not
have outbuildings in their rear yards.

For the most part, many of the structures on the historical lots making up the project site
remained largely unchanged throughout the remainder of the nineteenth century. Many stood
until the mid-twentieth century with few alterations. Towards the end of the nineteenth century,
several of the lots had been redeveloped with brick structures. A veterinary hospital was
constructed within the project site by 1904, although it was converted into a candy company by
1929. In addition, a large automotive garage was constructed along Lawrence Street in the
1920s. Several photographs of the area taken between the late 1930s and early 1950s are on file
at the Brooklyn Historical Society (“BHS”). The photographs depict a variety of structure types
and sizes, and they also show that many of the buildings on the project site had stores on their
ground floors.
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However, all of the structures on the project site were demolished in the late 1950s and
early 1960s to allow for the construction of the existing Klitgord Building and adjacent television
studio. A second series of photos on file at BHS that was taken in 1959 depict most of the
structures within the project site with their windows and doors boarded up, likely in anticipation
of demolition. A 1969 Sanborn map depicts the existing structures in their current
configurations. The lot histories of those historical lots whose rear yards were not completely
disturbed by the existing structures are described in greater detail, below.

Lot 18 — Former Church Property

Historical Lot 18, formerly located at the southwest corner of Lawrence (Barbarine) and
Tillary Streets, was occupied by a church throughout most of the nineteenth century. The
property was first occupied by the Second Baptist Church of Brooklyn, which leased, but did not
own, the land (Stiles 1867). The congregation was formed in 1830, and for a cost of $4,000, a
frame church was constructed on historical Lot 18 circa 1834. Historical directories for 1834
and 1835 lists the church’s address as the intersection off Washington and Concord Streets,
several blocks to the northwest of the project site, suggesting that they did not move to the
project site until after that time.

The congregation was headed by numerous pastors during its short existence, including
the Reverends Jacob Price (circa 1832-1833), C.F. Frey (circa 1835), and John Beethem,
although the most well-known was the Reverend Octavius Winslow, who preached there
between 1836 and 1838 (Stiles 1867). However, the church was not successful, and the
congregation was dissolved in 1838 after the departure of Winslow (Reed 1882).

In 1839, a Sunday school associated with the First Baptist Church of Brooklyn
(established at the corner of Nassau and Liberty Streets in 1822) was held in the vacant church
on historical Lot 18. As a result of the success of the Sunday school, additional religious
meetings and conferences were held in the old church and residents decided that another Baptist
church should be established in that part of Brooklyn. In March 1840, the East Baptist Church of
Brooklyn was officially established and the Reverend E.E.L. Taylor was invited to lead the
congregation which initially consisted of 33 individuals who had departed the congregation of
the First Baptist Church as well as 11 others from local Baptist congregations. The group began
meeting in the church on Lot 18 which was “hired from Zebdee Ring, a trustee of the Oliver
Street church for one year from May 1840 (Reed 1882: 1). Ring is not listed as an owner of the
property in conveyance records for Block 131 (see Appendix A). Under Taylor’s leadership, the
congregation grew and “soon the little house [on Lot 18] was too small...it was also gloomy and
inconvenient” (Reed 1882: 2). The congregation moved temporarily to the “Classical Hall” on
Washington Street before purchasing land on Pierrepont Street for the construction of a
permanent church edifice.

The First Free Preshbyterian Church of Brooklyn was organized in 1841 and it took over
the church building located on Lot 18 that year (Thompson 1843). Once again, however, it does
not appear that the congregation owned the land, but rather they continued to lease the lot from
Samuel R. Johnson. This congregation was led by Reverend Russell J. Judd from its inception
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until early 1844. Judd was an 1836 graduate of the Lane Theological Seminary in Cincinnati,
Ohio and was one of the so-called “Lane Rebels,” a group of abolitionist students that rebelled
against the school’s attempt to ban discussions about ending slavery in the United States (Lesick
1980)." Judd was considered one of the rebels who “may have engaged in anti-slavery activity
but left no records...there is no record that he worked in the anti-slavery movement, but he was
one of those” contacted by fellow abolitionist and Lane Rebel Theodore D. Weld “for
information about slavery in 1839 (ibid: 200). However, Judd also appears to have been one of
“those rebels unable or unwilling to cement or maintain the relationship between antislavery and
evangelicism” (ibid: 226).

Judd was initially well respected and taught at the school located in the church’s
basement, which contained “several apartments for purposes connected with the church”
including Judd’s private study, where he allegedly spent most of time (New Hampshire Patriot
1844: 2). However, at the end of 1843, he seemingly retired from preaching, prompting his
congregation to raise a fund to support him during his retirement (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1844b).
However, it was soon learned that he had been engaging in “the most indelicate course of
conduct” with many of his young students and an 11-year old orphan who worked as a domestic
servant in his household (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1844a: 2). After this revelation he fled
Brooklyn, leaving his wife and family behind and was banished from the church (ibid). He spent
his remaining years living as a bookseller in Wisconsin (Lesick 1980).

Judd was replaced by Reverend Edward Weed, who led the congregation between 1844
and 1845 (Stiles 1867). Weed had been a guest preacher in the church in 1843 and in 1844,
despite offers from other congregations, he chose to accept the “urgent invitation” presented to
him by the congregation of the First Free Church, who felt that he was the “only man of their
acquaintance who could build them up after the sad calamity that had just fallen upon them”
(New Hampshire Patriot 1844: 131-2). Although the congregation grew under his short
leadership, Weed clashed with certain church leaders and suffered from poor health during his
time as pastor, and he requested to be dismissed from the church in May 1845 (ibid).

After the departure of Weed, Reverend Isaac Newton Sprague was invited to head the
congregation, which in June of that year had voted to rename themselves the “Free
Congregational Church of Brooklyn” (Stiles 1867). A new congregational church was
established in an existing church edifice on Cranberry Street in Brooklyn in 1847, and it seems
that Reverend Sprague and possibly the congregation left the church on Lot 18 to worship there
(Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1847a). The church does not appear to have been vacant for long,
however, as the Central Baptist Church of Brooklyn worshipped there between 1847 and March
1848, when the property (which at that time included adjacent Lots 16 and 21) was purchased by
John C. Green for the purposes of starting a new church on the property. Green’s purchase of the
property is the first to be included in official conveyance records for the block. Green
immediately transferred Lot 18 to the First Congregational Methodist Church, retaining Lots 16
and 21.

! Slavery was abolished in New York State in 1827.
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Green had been the pastor of the Centenary Methodist Episcopal (“ME”) Church one
block to the south of the project site at the corner of Johnson and Jay Streets, however after
difficulties between the Reverend and the ME hierarchy, a schism occurred and Green seceded
from the religion (Warriner 1885). Green purchased the property and established a
Congregational Methodist Church there so that he could continue to practice Methodism without
having to answer to an overarching religious administration. The church on Lot 18 was
“appropriately fitted for the convenience of this new congregation” after their purchase
(Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1848b: 2). These improvements included galleries in the church as well
as the establishment of a parsonage, presumably on Lot 21 (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1848c). Green
remained with the church until August 1853 and he died eight months later and was buried in
Green-Wood cemetery (Warriner 1885). As depicted on the 1855 Perris map, the first map to
clearly depict Lot 18, the lot measured approximately 53 by 55 feet while the church measured
approximately 45 by 53 feet, taking up the entire lot with the exception of a narrow 10-foot-wide
open area along the southern side of the church.

The Congregational Methodist congregation had outgrown the church on Lot 18 by the
end of the 1850s, and in 1858 the cornerstone was laid for their new structure near the
intersection of State and Hoyt Streets (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1858a). The structure was
completed by 1859, at which time the church on Lot 18 was sold to the Associate Reformed
Church of Brooklyn, also known as the Lawrence Street Presbyterian Church. That congregation
was led by Reverend Adam McClelland, who was a prominent Presbyterian minister and had
also been blinded by a childhood illness (Stiles 1867). Historical directories suggest that the
church did not maintain a parsonage in the vicinity and that McClelland lived on Tillary Street
several blocks west of the church for the majority of his tenure as pastor. This congregation was
the first to occupy Lot 18 for a substantial period of time, remaining on the site until 1875, at
which time declining membership and low funding resulted in the union of the congregation with
that of the Fort Greene Presbyterian Church. Because the location of the church on Lot 18 was
“by no means desirable...its adjacency to other churches of the same denomination without
possessing the advantages of its neighbors was thought to be the cause of its failure as a church,”
and the congregation moved to the Fort Greene church (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1875: 4).

In 1876, Lot 18 was sold to the Roman Catholic Diocese of Brooklyn and Saint Casimir’s
Polish Roman Catholic Church was established on the site. The congregation had been formed
two years earlier to support the 100 Polish families that were then living in Brooklyn, and they
purchased the frame church for $7,000 and subsequently made “alterations necessary to make it
available for Catholic services” (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1890: 9). The church had money troubles
almost immediately and the Brooklyn Daily Eagle reported that it had received loans from
parishioners that it was not repaying (1879). The first pastor was Father Joseph Niedzielski, who
is listed in historical directories as living at either 26 Lawrence Street (historical Lot 21) or in the
rear of the structure at the corner of Lawrence and Tillary Streets. In addition, the church’s
sexton, George Patersky, is listed in some directories at 24 Lawrence Street, the address of the
church. Niedzielski died in 1882 at age 35 and was interred at Holy Cross Roman Catholic
Cemetery in Brooklyn (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1882a).
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By 1887, a new 1-story addition had been added to the front of the church on Lawrence
Street and a Sanborn map of that year identifies the structure as 2-stories tall, possibly reflecting
either the basement or the construction of the galleries. In 1890, the congregation once again
outgrew the small church on Lot 18 and they purchased and converted a former synagogue to use
as a new location (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1890) while they continued to use the old church edifice
as a school (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1891a). In 1892, the Bishop of the Diocese of Albany
transferred the property to the Bishop of the Diocese of Brooklyn and Saint Michael the
Archangel’s Italian Roman Catholic Church was established on Lot 18. The pastor overseeing
the church in the late 1890s, Father Gioachino Garofalo, had originally resided at the rectory of
Saint James Pro-Cathedral, two blocks to the north of the project site, although the house next to
the church was rented in 1899 for use as a rectory (ibid: 1/22/1899). However, a directory from
1900 shows that Father Garofalo lived at both 27 and 33 Lawrence Street, across the street from
the church.

Improvements were made to the church’s exterior at the turn of the century and the 1903
Hyde atlas depicts the building as a brick-fronted frame building. Saint Michael’s church had
become “an odd little white stucco building partly constructed below street level so that one had
to descend a flight of stairs to enter it” (Kobler 1971: 23). It soon became popular among the
increasing Italian population in the neighborhood, including the family of legendary gangster Al
Capone, who was baptized there (ibid). The 1904 Sanborn map, which identifies the structure as
1-story with a basement, also depicts a small 1-story structure measuring less than 10 feet square
that had been added to the southwestern corner of the formerly undeveloped yard to the south of
the church. This addition is not depicted on any subsequent maps, including the 1915 Sanborn
map that identifies the church as vacant. It is not clear why the church was abandoned, although
the building may simply have become worn out, as in 1910 the balcony suffered a partial
collapse during Easter mass (New York Times 1910).

The Roman Catholic Diocese retained the property until 1925, when they sold the lot. A
succession of owners held the property for the next decade, after which it was owned by various
realty corporations. The configuration of structures on the property during this time is somewhat
confusing, however. The 1929 Hyde atlas depicts a new 1-story wood frame structure that
occupied the eastern half of the lot, covering a portion of the former church’s side yard. The
map labels this building with an “M,” suggesting that it was used for manufacturing purposes.
The 1939 Sanborn shows that the lot was redeveloped with a smaller, 2-story structure
measuring 40 feet by 40 feet at the northeastern corner of the lot. The map identifies the owner
of the lot at that time as the Consolidated Fire Alarm Company and indicates that the building
was constructed in 1939. However, the 1950 Sanborn (Figure 6), which depicts the same
structure as the 1939 Sanborn map, both of which differ from the building’s footprint as depicted
on the 1929 Hyde atlas, lists the year of construction as 1928. In 1950, the building was the
home of a whole-sale dental supply company. A photograph of the building from 1959 on file at
the BHS indicates that the General Exterminating Corporation occupied the building and shows
that the vacant alley to the south of the building (and likely the area to the west as well) was used
as a driveway, as a curb cut led from the area to Lawrence Street.
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The existing Klitgord Building and TV studio were constructed on the property in 1961.
Cellar plans of the building prepared around that time were provided for the purposes of this
assessment. The plans depict the footprint of the existing TV studio and show that to the north
of the building’s footprint (as depicted on Figure 5) were several areas marked “fill & Grade.”
One of these areas is located below the existing 1-story glass-fronted entryway that extends from
the northern side of the building into former Lot 18. Filling and grading also occurred beneath a
sheltered raised platform adjacent to loading docks located near the northeastern corner of the
Klitgord Building, within historical Lots 15 and 16. A sleeve for an electrical conduit is also
depicted through the foundation wall to the west of the 1-story entryway.

Potential for Burial Vaults on the Property. As a result of increasing and misguided
fears about the impact of human interments on public health, burial legislation in New York City
became increasingly strict in the early nineteenth century. Editorials in favor of outlawing
human interments in Brooklyn appeared in the Brooklyn Daily Eagle as early as June 1847,
many of them using the Saint James Pro-Cathedral Cemetery, just 2 blocks north of the project
site, as an example of an unhealthy burial ground. Burials within 2 miles of Brooklyn’s City
Hall — the project site is less than one-half mile from City Hall — were banned by June 1848
(Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1847b), and burials in the First through Sixth Wards of Brooklyn were
banned in 1849 (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1849). The latter ban included additional interments in
existing private vaults on church properties. Around this time, large rural cemeteries began to be
established throughout the less densely populated portions of Brooklyn and Queens which served
the populations of the entire New York City region. The most notable of these rural cemeteries
was Green-Wood, a nondenominational cemetery founded in 1838 approximately 2.5 miles
south of the project site. Other large cemeteries established at this time were the Cemetery of the
Evergreens, a nondenominational cemetery near the Brooklyn-Queens Border, and the Holy
Cross Cemetery, a Roman Catholic Cemetery in Flatbush, both founded in 1849. Because of the
cemetery legislation, if any of the congregations maintained burial vaults on the property, it
would have been those that occupied the land before 1847: the Second Baptist Church, the East
Baptist Church, the First Free Presbyterian Church, or the Free Congregational Church.

No documentary evidence was located that would suggest that any of these churches
maintained a burial vault on the property. The fact that none of these congregations owned the
land on which the church stood makes it appear less probable that such a vault would have
existed as it does not seem likely that they would inter their dead on land which they did not
own. Because the basement of the church was actively used by the church for Sunday school
classrooms and as the pastor’s private study, it is presumed that if a burial vault was present on
the site, it would have been located below the open yard to the south of the church that measured
approximately 10 feet by 55 feet. The western half of this yard area is situated within the
footprint of the basement of the existing TV studio, which has a fully excavated basement. No
evidence was located to suggest that human remains were encountered during the construction of
that building.

Only three obituaries for known members of the congregations that worshipped at this
site could be located in the Brooklyn Daily Eagle. The deceased individuals included John
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Moyses and Samuel Mott in 1850 and George W. Sherman in 1858. According to the burial
index on the Green-Wood Cemetery website, both Mott and Sherman are buried there. It is
unknown where Moyses was laid to rest, although his obituary noted that he died on the way to
California, and it is possible that his body was not returned to Brooklyn for burial. In addition,
John C. Green, the pastor of the First Congregational Church between 1848 and 1853 was also
interred in Green-Wood after his death in 1854.

Because of the short duration of occupation for each congregation on this site before
1847-1849, the fact that none of those congregations owned the property, and the lack of
documentary evidence suggesting that human interments took place on this property, it does not
appear likely that burial vaults were present on this site.

Lot Histories

Historical Lot 15. Historical Lot 15 (also known as historical Lot 398 until circa 1875
and historical Lot 5 until circa 1900) was historically known as 88 Tillary Street until circa 1870
and subsequently as 102 Tillary Street. The 1855 Perris map, the first to depict the lot in great
detail, depicts it as measuring approximately 25 feet in width (fronting on Tillary Street) and 100
feet in depth. A 25-foot-square, wood frame house stood at the northern end of the lot as did a
narrow outbuilding, presumably an outhouse, at the rear of the lot within the footprint of the
existing Klitgord Building. Tax assessments from the nineteenth century indicate that the home
stood two and one-half stories high and subsequent maps show that it had a basement. The 1903
Hyde atlas also shows that a brick facade had been added to the structure. The structure and the
rear outbuilding appear to have stood on the lot until it was razed in preparation for the
construction of the Klitgord Building.

The lot was sold by Samuel R. and Elizabeth Johnson to Catherine Baisley in 1831.
Baisley and her heirs owned the lot until 1853, although it does not appear that any of the owners
lived on the lot. A historical directory from 1840 identifies at least four residents of the lot:
Edward Brown, a baker, Fanny Keymer, a widow, John Stevenson, a plasterer, and Patrick York,
whose occupation is not listed. All of these individuals were listed in the 1840 census, which
indicated that approximately 13 individuals resided on the property that year.

None of these individuals continued to live in the building through the late 1840s. By
1848 a merchant named Charles C. Moore was among the residents. Census records for 1850
identify three households on the lot which included a total of sixteen individuals. These
households were headed by Thomas Maynard, who ran a tea and coffee shop on Fulton Street,
George Branch, a grocer, and Joseph Bowworth a clerk. All residents of the building at that time
had been born in England, with the exception of an Irish teenager who lived with the Maynard
family and the infant son of Joseph Bowworth, who had been born in New York. Thomas
Maynard was listed as a resident of 88 Tillary Street on a list of residents requesting to be
exempted from military duty in 1852 (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1852).

Baisley’s heirs sold the lot to a man named Jacob Badger in 1853. In May 1880, at age
75 or 76, Badger dropped dead on the street while walking through Brooklyn. After his death, it
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was revealed that he had been living a secret double life, according to an article published in the
Brooklyn Daily Eagle on July 22, 1880. Jacob Badger was thought to be a bachelor who co-
owned the ship chandlery firm of Badger and Peck and who lived with his unmarried sister on
Madison Street in Brooklyn. However, under the alias John Baker he was married to a woman
named Mary Jane (nee Van Tyne), some 15 to 20 years his junior, with whom he lived on the top
floors of 102 Tillary Street, along with her young daughter, and was apparently well known in
that neighborhood. The two claimed to have been married in the early 1850s, just before he
purchased Lot 15, although no proof of marriage was ever discovered. Census records for 1860
and 1870 list John and Mary Baker as residents of the property, along with Mary’s daughter
Margaret, who apparently believed that Baker was her father until circa 1870, when an aunt
informed her that he was not. Historical directories list John Baker as a resident of 102 Tillary
Street, and the 1880 directory lists both Baker and Badger at different addresses.

Upon Badger’s death, a long battle ensued over his estate, valued at over $150,000,
between his alleged widow and his brother, Alfred C. Badger. Despite the high value of his real
estate holdings, Badger, who “was better known as John Baker than as Jacob Badger,” lived “in
a modest and humble manner...assumed to be poor...and somewhat of a miser” (Brooklyn Daily
Eagle 1880b: 4). At first, the estate was granted to Alfred Badger in 1881 as the ruling court
determined that because there was no proof of marriage, Mary Jane was not entitled to any
inheritance (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1881). However, after an appeal, the estate was settled in
1882 and Mary Jane Badger received a portion of the estate as well as public recognition as
Jacob Badger’s widow (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1882b). Conveyance records show that the
“Widow of Jacob Badger” transferred Lot 15 to a large group of individuals, including Alfred C.
Badger.

Badger leased the lower floor of the house to various tenants, although an 1868
advertisement in the Brooklyn Daily Eagle offered the second and part of the third floors for rent
(1868a). The 1860 census lists the other tenants as Cornelius Richardson, a young railroad
conductor who lived there with his wife, Martha, and a pair of sisters named Mary and Sarah
Vanderbilt who both worked as seamstresses. All four had been born in New York. Historical
directories list a driver named Joshua Ackison as a resident in 1863, a man named Robert
Donaldson in 1867, a clerk named Asa S. Lane in 1869, and a metal dealer named Murray
Copeland in 1876. The 1870 census identifies the other tenants as a ship caulker named Edward
Taws who lived with his wife, Louisa, and Hannah O’Neal, an Irish woman who worked as a
domestic servant, although it is unclear if she was Taws’ servant or a boarder in his home who
worked elsewhere (the latter is more likely as the census does not indicate the value of Taws’
personal or real estate holdings). In 1880, the year that Badger died, census records show that
Mary Jane Badger (her name listed as such for the first time) continued to live on the property,
along with the family of William H. Palmer, an English immigrant who manufactured fishing
tackle and who lived with his wife, Adeline, their four children ages 10 through 23, and a 73-
year old woman named Maria M. Harris. With the exception of Adeline, who was also a native
of England, the remaining tenants were all born in New York. William Palmer was one of the
witnesses called during the trial over the dispute of Badger’s estate (Brooklyn Daily Eagle
1880c).
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The administrators of Badger’s will, who had previously purchased the land from
Badger’s widow, sold Lot 15 to Thomas McCaffrey in 1883. In 1886, McCaffrey requested
permission to add a wood frame extension onto the house, but historical maps show that this was
never completed (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1886). McCaffrey owned the lot until 1903, however he
does not appear to have ever lived there. Classified advertisements ran in the Brooklyn Daily
Eagle frequently throughout the late nineteenth century offering the house for rent. In 1868 the
ads mention that the home had water but no gas and it is not described as having “all
improvements,” i.e., indoor plumbing and toilet facilities, until 1897.

During the period that McCaffrey owned the property, a variety of individuals lived
there. Directories show that a boot maker named Francis Kearney lived at 102 Tillary Street in
1882 and 1883, as did Patrick Henderson, a “sampler” in 1888, James and Martha McGinnis, a
sea captain and nurse, respectively, between at least 1891 and 1900, Alfred Robbins, a printer, in
1897, Frederick Rogers, a chandelier maker in 1898, Harry Reed, a hatter, in 1899, and William
F. Daley, a clerk, in 1900. The 1900 census lists only James and Martha McGinnis, both English
immigrants, along with their two daughters, both born in New York, and an Irish boarder who
worked as a waitress. The census notes that the McGinnis family rented the home.

Over the first few decades of the twentieth century, ownership of the project site changed
hands several times. For several years in the 1920s and 1930s, the property was occupied by the
Wymmore Social Club. Historical maps depict no changes to the property until the 1950s, when
the building was demolished in preparation for the construction of the existing Klitgord Building
and TV studio. The existing footprint of the structure covers most of the former rear yard of 102
Tillary Street, although a 10- to 15-foot portion immediately south of the former structure is
beneath the existing parking lot. As mentioned previously, a portion of this area was identified
as having been filled and graded on cellar plans of the existing structures.

Historical Lots 16 and 17. Historical Lots 16 and 17 are usually grouped together and
referred to as historical Lot 16, also known as historical Lot 397 until circa 1875 and historical
Lot 6 until circa 1900. The property was historically known as 90-92 Tillary Street until circa
1870 and was subsequently known as 104-106 Tillary Street. The 1855 Perris map depicts the
property as two separate lots, the western of these (Lot 16/104 Tillary Street) measuring
approximately 20 feet in width and the eastern (Lot 17/106 Tillary Street) measuring 10 feet in
width. Wood frame structures measuring approximately 30 feet in length covered the northern
portions of these lots and many subsequent maps depict these as a single structure or separated
by a dashed line, indicating communicating structures. In addition, the two lots were always
grouped together for tax assessments. It appears that the main difference between the two was
that Lot 16 was used solely for residential purposes while Lot 17 also included a store.

Lot 16 was included within land that was leased by Samuel R. Johnson to a man named
William Stone in 1829 for what was intended to be a period of 29 years. Stone’s holdings appear
to have also included other lots to the west, possibly even Lot 15, described above. Stone was
included in the 1830 Brooklyn census, which showed that he lived in the Fourth Ward of
Brooklyn. However, conveyance records show that in 1833 Stone, who had become an
“insolvent debtor,” was forced to give up his land on Block 130. In a directory published in
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1833, Stone was listed as a resident of 90 Tillary Street and a cartman named Daniel VVanBuren
as a resident of 92 Tillary Street.

By 1840, a man named Edward G. Triquet had begun to reside on the property. Triquet
was listed in the 1840 census as a resident of the Fourth Ward of Brooklyn along with his wife
and 6 children. The family continued to live on the property through 1843, when Triquet’s 5-
month-old son died, and 1844, when Triquet was selling tickets to a Masonic ball from 90 Tillary
Street, but moved out before the publication of Spooner’s 1848 directory (Brooklyn Daily Eagle
1843 and 1844b).

In 1848, Samuel R. Johnson sold Lot 16 to John C Green, the pastor of the
Congregational Methodist Church that he had just established next door to the east. However,
Green does not appear to have lived on this lot, as he resided on Lot 21, which bordered Lots 16
and 18 to the south. A historical directory shows that in 1859 Edward Riley, a mason, Susannah
Moser, a widow, and Moses Garner, a hosiery store operator, were among the tenants of the
property at 90 Tillary Street. The 1850 census lists Riley and Moser in a separate home than
Garner, so it is presumed that Riley resided at 90 Tillary and Garner at 92. The census shows
that in addition to Riley and Moser, Lydia, Isaac, and James Reynolds also resided on the
property as well as Charles and Samuel Gruse, who were employed as a bookbinder and ferry
master, respectively. With the exception of Edward Riley and his wife, Julia, who were both
born in New Jersey, all of the residents of this building were born in New York. In addition,
Moses and Mary Garner, who were both English immigrants, lived with their 2-year old daughter
as well as an Irish boarder named Margaret Quigley.

None of these individuals continued to reside on the property through the 1860 census.
The individuals who appear to have lived on Lot 16 at that time* include Washington Dupuy, a
flour dealer who lived with his wife and three children and Elisha B. Lottier, a gold beater who
lived with his wife and two children as well as a boarder, an artist named George Corney. All
residents of this property were born in New York. This census does not appear to distinguish
between the structures on Lots 16 and 17. Directories published during the 1860s indicate that a
great deal of people lived on this lot during that time, although none seemed to stay for a
significant period of time. Among the residents listed at 90 Tillary Street were Ellen Soden, a
widow, in 1863; Adna C. Griswold, a printer, in 1864; Noah Whitlock, a clerk, in 1866; and W.
Arnold, a ship carpenter, in 1867. Residents listed at 92 Tillary included John T. Hendrickson, a
clerk, in 1864; Anna E. and Robert B. Hirst, who both made hats, in 1865 through 1867; Charles
Carroll, a clerk, in 1868; and Margaret Reardon, a fancy goods dealer in 1868 and 1869.

The Dupuy family appears to be the only consistent presence on this lot during the late
nineteenth century. Classified advertisements published repeatedly in the Brooklyn Daily Eagle
in the late 1860s and early 1870s offered the second floor of the building for rent to either small

! Specific house numbers are not included in this census, but these individuals were listed next to John Baker on census
ledgers, indicating that they were neighbors. Where possible, names from census records were cross-referenced with historic
directories to confirm addresses.
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families or three single gentlemen (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1868b and 1873). The latter
advertisement described the house as having running water.

The Dupuy family was again listed as residing on the property in the 1870 census, along
with the families of William Helon, a Canadian cutter and Edward Harrison, a Welsh painter.
The residents of 106 Tillary Street in that census included the family of Frank McCormick, a
wealthy Irish dry goods merchant who lived there with his wife, children, and a domestic
servant. Directories show that the McCormicks lived there until at least 1877 while a variety of
individuals lived next door at 104 Tillary throughout the decade. Those residents included
George R. and Martha Henderson, a bookkeeper and a widow, respectively, in 1872; Samuel
Whitehouse, a music teacher, in 1873; and John Hinch and Peter Landers, both laborers in 1878.
John Hinch died in his home at 104 Tillary Street in 1882 (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1882c).

Like the rest of his property in the area, John C. Green sold his property to Bridget
McLaughlin in 1876, whose heirs would continue to own the property until 1903. None of the
subsequent owners ever appeared to have lived on the property either. An advertisement for the
sale published in the Brooklyn Daily Eagle that year listed the properties at 104 and 106 Tillary
separately. An 1876 directory lists a woman named Anna E. McLaughlin as a boarding house
operator at 104 Tillary, although it is unknown if she was related to Bridget McLaughlin. The
1880 census lists neither woman as residents of the property. Instead, a wood artist named John
E. Rapp was listed as living there with his family, as were John and Delia and Rosa Hinch,
presumably his daughters, who worked in a chemical factory; Mary and Michael Duffy, a
housewife and plumber, respectively; and Susan Torpey, an elderly Irish woman. In addition,
the family of William Keely, a house painter, lived at 106 Tillary Street that year, with his wife,
children, and sister.

John Tobey, who may have been John Torpey, Susan Torpey’s son, was listed as a
resident of the building in an 1880 directory. Torpey was accused by his neighbors of being
abusive toward his mother and was charged of beating her to death in their home at 104 Tillary
Street in January 1891 (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1891b). However, he was later exonerated when
the coroner ruled that her death was the result of natural causes (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 1891c).
He seems to have moved out after that ordeal, however, and is last listed as a resident in an 1891
directory. Throughout the 1880s and 1890s, numerous individuals were listed as residents of the
property in directories. These included Joseph Gorman, a printer, between 1882 and 1891;
Catherine, Daniel, and Thomas Blaney, who were a widow, clerk, and iron railer, respectively, in
1883; Edward Shea in 1890; John Higgins, a clerk, in 1891 and 1892, and Thomas J. Farrell, a
clerk, in 1897. The property at 106 Tillary Street seems to have been more consistently occupied
at this time, with a shoemaker named Henry A. Pappenmeyer listed in directories between 1882
and 1896, followed by George H. Cowell, a periodicals dealer, in 1897, and Rosario and James
Sarnese, who ran a father and son tailoring shop, in 1902.

The Sarnese family was listed at 106 Tillary Street in the 1900 census, which revealed
that all three members of the family (including Luisa, Rosario’s wife and James’ mother) were
Italian immigrants. The 1900 census also lists a variety of residents at 104 Tillary Street, none of
whom were listed in historical directories at this address. In addition, few families were listed in
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the census records, suggesting that a portion of the building may have been used as a boarding
house. The tenants on 104 Tillary Street that year included 14 lItalian, French, and English
immigrants and their American-born children. Their occupations were generally unskilled,
including laborer, porter, and fruit vendor although one was listed as an artistic flower maker and
another as a “trust funder.”

Historical maps do not depict any changes to this lot until 1915, when a narrow, 1-story,
L-shaped wood frame structure was constructed along the rear lot line. No additional changes
appear to have occurred on the property until the 1950s, when the lot was razed during the
construction of the existing Klitgord Building and TV studio. As mentioned previously, a
portion of this area was identified as having been filled and graded on cellar plans of the existing
structures.

Historical Lots 5 through 14. Because of the unknown extent to which this area has
been disturbed, the lot histories will be summarized in brief, but additional information regarding
the owners and occupants of these lots can be found in Appendices A through D. Historical Lots
5 through 14 shared similar development histories with Lots 15 and 16. These lots were leased
or sold to various individuals by Samuel R. and Elizabeth Johnson during the 1838s and 1840s
and were likely first developed around this time. As seen on the 1855 Perris Map (Figure 5),
these lots were all developed with wood frame structures, several of which had outbuildings
along the rear lot lines. In addition, a school was located to the rear of the structure on Lot 14.
Few changes occurred to these structures throughout the nineteenth century, although towards
the end of the century several of the structures were altered to add floors or were replaced by
larger buildings. Many of the replacement structures were made of brick. At the beginning of
the twentieth century, Lots 4 and 5 had been combined and replaced with a large brick structure
later used as a veterinary hospital and, later, a candy company.

As seen in Appendices A through D, in many cases individuals listed in historical
documents (i.e. census records, tax assessments, or historical directories) as living on one of
these lots one year were found listed at adjacent addressed in other years. Therefore, it appears
that house numbers in this area may have been inconsistently used during the mid- to late-
nineteenth century. The occupants of these properties varied widely in terms of ethnicity and
occupation and duration of occupancy. For the most part, the owners of the properties did not
reside there, although there were several exceptions. In addition, some properties may have
relied on shaft features for a longer period of time than others. The 1855 Perris atlas depicts
outbuildings along the rear lot lines of historical Lots 5, 6, and 14, suggesting that the rest may
have had indoor plumbing by that time.
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CHAPTER 5. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS
Conclusions

As part of the background research for this Phase 1A Archaeological Documentary
Study, various primary and secondary resources were analyzed, including historical maps and
atlases, historical photographs and lithographs, newspaper articles, and local histories. The
information provided by these sources was analyzed to reach the following conclusions.

Disturbance Assessment. Significant disturbance would have occurred across the
majority of the site during the construction of the existing Klitgord Building and TV studio. The
TV studio and the southern half of the Klitgord Building are constructed over a basement that
extends to a depth of approximately 20 feet below grade. The northern half of the Klitgord
Building does not have a fully-excavated basement, although some excavation would have
occurred for the purposes of grading and for the construction of the structural footings that are
evenly spaced throughout the site. The depth to which the ground has been disturbed in this area
is unclear. Additional areas along the western and northern sides of the Klitgord Building could
have been disturbed as a result of the construction of subway infrastructure. Finally, the former
streetbed of Lawrence Street contains numerous utilities, including water and sewer lines.

Precontact Sensitivity Assessment. The precontact sensitivity of project sites in New
York City is generally evaluated by their proximity to level slopes, water courses, well-drained
soils, and previously identified precontact archaeological sites. In addition, precontact
archaeological sites are generally found at shallow depths, usually within 4 to 5 feet of the
original ground surface. Although Native American activity (i.e. camping, hunting and
gathering, or the processing of resources) may have occurred on the project site at one time, the
extensive development and landscape modification that occurred during the historic period
would most likely have disturbed the shallow depths below the original ground surface.
Therefore, the project site is determined to have no sensitivity for precontact archaeological
resources.

Historic Sensitivity Assessment. The rear yards of at least 10 historical lots within the
project site do not appear to have been completely disturbed by the construction of the existing
structures. Historical Lots 5, 6, 7, 8, 10, 12, 13, and 14 are located below the northern portion of
the Klitgord Building where the basement is not fully excavated. This area is not completely
undisturbed, however, as minimal excavation, possibly as much as 10 feet, would have been
necessary to level the grade and to construct existing column footings that are spaced evenly
throughout this area. Some disturbance would have been generated during the excavation of the
basements of the southern half of the building and the adjacent TV studio, as well as the subway
tunnel and station along the western and northern sides of this building. However, there remains
a possibility that archaeological resources such as shaft features (cisterns, privies, and wells)
could have survived intact in this area. Almost all of the structures located in this area were
constructed with basements. Although most Sanborns do not identify basements for most of the
structures, historical tax assessments show that all but the buildings on Lots 10 and 13 had
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basements at some point in the nineteenth century. Therefore, only the rear-yard areas of these
lots are potentially sensitive for shaft features. Privies would be located near the rear lot line
while cisterns and wells would be located closer to the homes that once stood on these lots. In
addition, the northern portions of the rear yards of Lots 15 and 16 were not completely disturbed
by the construction of the TV Studio’s basement and it is possible that historical shaft features
including cisterns and wells could be present near the southern line of the homes that formerly
stood there.

Therefore, the rear yards of historical Lots 5, 6, 7, 8, 10, 12, 13, 14, 15, and 16 are
considered to have moderate sensitivity for archaeological resources (i.e. shaft features).
However, because it does not appear likely that the church on Lot 18 had burial vaults on the
property, this lot is not considered sensitive for human remains.

Recommendations

A Phase 1B Archaeological Investigation is recommended for those areas determined to
have moderate sensitivity for archaeological resources: the rear yards of historical Lots 5, 6, 7, 8,
10, 12, 13, 14, 15, and 16. A map of the areas of archaeological sensitivity has been included as
Figure 6.
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